IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

**IV. ARGUMENT**

**1. EEOC GUIDANCE**

In 1996 the Equal Opportunity Commission issued “formal guidance” on workers’ compensation and the Americans with Disabilities Act<sup>1</sup>. The EEOC guidance discussed the relationship between the Americans with Disabilities Act and state workers’ compensation exclusivity provisions:

**Exclusive Remedy Provisions**

30. Do exclusive remedy provisions in workers’ compensation laws bar employees from pursuing ADA claims?

No. The purpose of workers’ compensation exclusivity clauses is to protect employers from being sued under common law theories of personal injury for occupational injury. Courts have generally held that the exclusive remedy provisions of state workers’ compensation laws cannot bar claims arising under federal civil rights laws, even where a state workers’ compensation law provides some relief for disability discrimination. Applying a state workers’ compensation law’s exclusivity provision to bar an individual’s ADA claim would violate the Supremacy Clause of the U.S. Constitution and seriously diminish the civil rights protection Congress granted to persons with disabilities.”

Clearly, state workers' compensation statutes do not bar federal ADA or Rehabilitation

---

<sup>1</sup>A copy of the EEOC guidance on workers’ compensation and the Americans with Disabilities Act was provided to the Circuit Court as Exhibit A to the Petitioner’s response to Defendants’ motion to dismiss.

Act claims. Wood v. Alameda, 875 F Supp 659, 665 (ND Cal 1995) (ADA); Smith v. Lake City Nursing Home, 771 F Supp 985, 986-987 (D Minn 1991) (Rehabilitation Act); Worthington v. City of New Haven, 1999 WL 958627, at \*8, 1999 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 16104 (D Conn 1999).<sup>2</sup>

## 2. WEST VIRGINIA LAW

This Court has rejected the notion that the West Virginia Human Rights Act provides less protection than that available under the Americans with Disabilities Act. In Stone v. St. Joseph's Hospital of Parkersburg, the Court discussed in great detail a situation in which the Plaintiff had sustained on-the-job injuries resulting in reassignment by his employer. The Court's extensive discussion in Stone contrasted the liberal interpretation of the West Virginia Human Rights Act by the West Virginia Supreme Court with the far more restrictive interpretation of the Americans with Disabilities Act by some federal courts. Stone v. St. Joseph's Hospital of Parkersburg, 208 W. Va. 91, 103-107, 438 S.E.2d 389, 401-404 (2000). Despite the fact that the sole basis for the Plaintiff's disability claim in Stone was his treatment resulting from two compensable on-the-job back injuries, the Court had no difficulty in Stone concluding that the Plaintiff was entitled to bring a claim of discrimination based upon disability and perception of disability under The West Virginia Human Rights Act, W. Va. Code § 5-11-1, et seq.

Similarly, in St. Peter v. Ampak-Division of Gatewood Products, Inc., 199 W. Va. 365,

---

<sup>2</sup> "The ADA is not an exclusive remedy and does not prevent a plaintiff from additionally seeking workers' compensation benefits. 42 U.S.C. §§ 12201(b) (1994). See generally, Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, Enforcement Guidance No. 915.002, (February 12, 1997). However, an ADA plaintiff is not required to exhaust other remedies before filing his or her ADA claim, and the exclusive remedy provisions of a workers' compensation statute does not preempt the ADA. Mangin v. Westco Security Systems, Inc., 992 F. Supp. 563 (M.D. Fla. 1996); Wood v. County of Alameda, 875 F. Supp. 659 (N.D. Cal. 1995)." Fail v. Community Hosp., 946 P.2d 573, 581 (Colo App 1997). In Roberts v. Roadway Express, Inc., 149 F. 3d 1098 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1998), the 10<sup>th</sup> Circuit reaffirmed that the exclusivity provisions of state workers' compensation statutes cannot restrict the availability of relief under the federal civil rights laws. Id. at 1105.

484 S.E.2d 481 (1997), the Court considered a claim for handicap discrimination in which the sole basis for the Plaintiff's claim was the Defendants' perception of the Plaintiff as handicapped as a result of a workers' compensation on-the-job injury. The Circuit Court entered summary judgment for the employer and this Court reversed. The Supreme Court considered St. Peter's argument that - on the first day of his return from his compensable injury - the employer told him that "half a man" was not needed by the employer. The Court rejected the employer's argument that the nature of the Plaintiff's injury did not support a claim under the Act and affirmed the availability in one civil action of claims for handicap discrimination and workers' compensation discrimination arising from the exact same employer misconduct. The Court reversed the Circuit Court's summary judgment in favor of the employer on the Plaintiff's workers' compensation claim, noting that the Plaintiff had established a prima facie case of discrimination by establishing that he had sustained an on-the-job injury, instituted proceedings under the Workers' Compensation Act, and established a nexus between the filing of his workers' compensation claim and his discharge. The Court also affirmed the availability based upon the exact same employer misconduct, of a claim under the West Virginia Human Rights Act for handicap discrimination. Id. 370, 486.

This Court noted in Vandevender v. Sheetz, Inc., 200 W. Va. 591, 490 S.E.2d 678 (1997), that an employee whose back injury was exacerbated by an employer's failure to accommodate was not limited to the remedies available under the West Virginia Workers' Compensation Act.

### **3. OTHER JURISDICTIONS**

Most courts have been unwilling to allow employers to hide behind the workers' compensation exclusivity "screen" to escape liability for their discriminatory actions.

The theories used to allow these actions to proceed vary. For example, if a state has excluded non-physical injuries from compensability, then workers' compensation exclusivity will not be a valid defense: since the claim is explicitly excluded from compensation and employees are barred from receiving compensation, employers are deemed to have relinquished the protection of the workers' compensation laws. On the other hand, in those jurisdictions in which these so-called 'mental-mental' claims are still compensable, most courts have nevertheless held that torts related to civil rights or retaliatory discharge should be allowed. In Michigan, for example, the state court held that discrimination claims established by statute should not be barred. Boscaglia v. Michigan Bell Tel. Co., 362 N.S.2d 642 (Mich. 1984).

In Florida, as in West Virginia, where co-worker assaults are clearly within the scope of workers' compensation remedies (and exclusivity), sexual harassment and related claims for intentional infliction of emotional distress were nevertheless found to be actionable. Noting the strong federal and state public policy against sexual harassment embodied in Title VII and the state's discrimination statutes, the Florida court noted:

[W]e have an equal obligation to honor the intent and policy of other enactments and, accordingly, may not apply the exclusivity rule in a manner that effectively abrogates the policies of other law. . . Our clear obligation is to construe both the workers' compensation statute and the enactments dealing with sexual harassment so that the policies of both are preserved to the greatest extent possible. . . In light of this overwhelming public policy, we cannot say that the exclusivity rule of the workers' compensation statute should exist to shield an employer from all tort liability based on incidents of sexual harassment. The clear public policy emanating from federal and Florida law holds that an employer is charged with maintaining a workplace free from sexual harassment. Applying the exclusivity rule of workers' compensation to preclude any and all tort liability effectively would abrogate this policy, undermine the Florida Human Rights Act, and flout Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. This, we cannot condone. Public policy now requires that employers be held accountable in tort for the sexually harassing

environments they permit to exist, whether the tort claim is premised on a remedial statute or on the common law. We find this conclusion harmonizes with the policies and scope of workers' compensation. As often has been noted, workers' compensation is directed essentially at compensating a worker for lost resources and earnings. This is a vastly different concern than is addressed by the sexual harassment laws. While workplace injuries rob a person of resources, sexual harassment robs the person of dignity and self esteem. Workers' compensation addresses purely economic injury; sexual harassment laws are concerned with a much more intangible injury to personal rights. To the extent these injuries are separable, we believe that they both should be, and can be, enforced separately. Byrd v. Richardson-Greenshields Securities, Inc., 552 So.2d 1099 (Fla. 1989).

Ohio, New Mexico and Wisconsin have also considered and rejected the argument posited by the Defendant that workers' compensation exclusivity precludes a discrimination claim based upon overlapping facts. Kerans v. Porter Paint Co., 61 Ohio St.3d 486 (1991) (workers' compensation statute does not provide the exclusive remedy for anti-discrimination claims, whether they are statutory or based on common law); Coates v. Wal-Mart Stores, 976 P.2d 999 (N.M. 1999) (workers' compensation laws do not bar claims for sexual harassment); Byers v. Labor and Industry Review Comm'n, 561 N.W.2d 678 (Wisc. 1997) (The exclusivity provisions of the Wisconsin workers' compensation statutes do not bar a claim for employment discrimination) ("Unlike the WCA, the WFEA is concerned with deterring and remedying intangible injuries which rob a person of dignity and self-esteem and with eliminating a discriminatory environment in the workplace that affects not only the victim of discrimination but the entire workforce and the public welfare.").

Courts initially differed on whether disability discrimination claims associated with an occupational injury should be preempted by workers' compensation remedies, particularly when the workers' compensation law provides a separate remedy for failure to rehire an injured

employee; courts are ultimately choosing to allow these actions to survive challenges based on exclusivity. See Byers v. Labor and Industry Review Comm'n, 561 N.W.2d 678 (Wisc. 1997) [characterizing the issue as whether the exclusive remedy provision of the Worker's Compensation Act bars a claim brought under the Wisconsin Fair Employment Act (WFEA), when the facts that are the basis for the discrimination claim might also support a worker's compensation claim and overruling Schachtner v. Dept. of Industry, Labor, and Human Relations, 422 N.W.2d 906 (Wisc. Ct. App. 1988)]; King v. Bangor Federal Credit Union, 568 A.2d 507 (Maine 1989); Reese v. Sears, Roebuck & Co., 731 P.2d 497 (Wash. 1987); Cox v. Glazer Steel Corp., 606 So.2d 518 (La. 1992); Davis v. Dillmeier Enterprises, Inc., 330 Ark. 545 (1997) (all holding that the injured claimant may sustain an action under the state disability discrimination law); City of Moorpark v. Superior Court of Ventura County, 77 Cal. Rptr. 2d 445, 959 P.2d 752 (1998); compare Karst v. F.C. Hayer Co., 447 N.W.2d 180 (Minn. 1989) (holding that the exclusive remedy provision of the Workers' Compensation Act precludes a state discrimination action by a disabled worker against his former employer when he became disabled as a result of work-related injuries and the former employer refused to rehire him due to the disability).

The history of the ruling in California is instructive. In that state, prior judicial decisions had allowed employees to sue employers in tort for religious discrimination, public policy retaliatory discharges, false imprisonment, and sexual harassment. But one appellate court drew the line in a case involving a claim for wrongful termination under the state disability discrimination law where the worker suffered from compensable bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome. Because the workers' compensation statute had explicit provisions forbidding

discrimination against workers with occupational injuries, and the newer disability discrimination law did not indicate any intention to abrogate the normal rules of exclusivity, the court upheld the employer's demurrer to an action brought under the state's civil rights statute.

Cammack v. GTE California Inc., 55 Cal.Rptr.2d 837 (1996) petition for review granted 926 P.2d 968. In 1998, the California Supreme Court rejected this lower court's ruling, holding that the exclusivity of workers' compensation did not encompass statutory or common law claims for disability discrimination, even when the disability arose from a compensable injury. City of Moorpark v. Superior Court of Ventura County, 77 Cal. Rptr, 2d 445, 959 P.2d 752 (1998) (holding that the workers' compensation law section that prohibited disability discrimination on basis of work-related injury did not provide an exclusive remedy precluding statutory discrimination and common-law wrongful discharge claims by employee who was allegedly terminated because of work-related knee injury and that disability discrimination could form the basis of a common law wrongful discharge claim. The court noted: "the... 'compensation bargain' cannot encompass conduct, such as sexual or racial discrimination, 'obnoxious to the interests of the state and contrary to public policy and sound morality.'" 77 Cal. Rptr 2d at 451).

The other California courts have consistently agreed with this later ruling. See Gallo v. Board of Regents of the University of California, 916 F.Supp. 1005 (S.D. Calif 1995); Buckley v. Gallo Sales Co., 949 F.Supp. 737 (N.D. Calif 1996); Ash v. Pacific Bell, 1995 WL 866185 (S.D.Cal.) (all applying California law).

In Ford v. Revlon, Inc., 153 Ariz. 38, 734 P. 2d 580 (1987), the Supreme Court of Arizona considered the availability of the tort of assault and battery against an employer who failed to investigate the Plaintiff-employee's complaint of sexual harassment by her supervisor.

Specifically rejecting the argument accepted by this Court in Tolliver v. Kroger Co., 201 W. Va. 509, 498 S.E.2d 702 (1997), the Arizona Supreme Court noted that the workers' compensation exclusivity provisions of Arizona law posed no barrier to the availability of the tort of assault and battery against the supervisor committing the misconduct. Id. at 42, 584, citing Davis v. United States Steel Corp., 779 F. 2d 209, 211 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1985). Noting that the misconduct alleged by the Plaintiff was not accidental in nature, the Arizona Supreme Court rejected the employer's claim of immunity under the workers' compensation exclusivity provisions of Arizona workers' compensation law.

Courts have routinely held that employees were excused from mitigation when the worker suffered damage from discrimination which prevented the employee from performing other jobs. These are analogous to the situation in the case at bar. Courts have allowed the employer to reap the benefits of the effects of its intentional discriminatory actions. For instance, in Maturo v. National Graphic, Inc., 722 F. Supp. 916, 926 (D. Conn. 1989), the Court noted that a Plaintiff was excused from finding other work when unable to work due to emotional injuries resulting from discrimination. Similarly, in Wells v. The North Carolina Board of Alcoholic Control, 714 F. 2d 340, 342 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1983), the Plaintiff had been denied promotion from stock clerk to sales clerk because of his race. After being denied the promotion, the Plaintiff injured his back lifting boxes and had to leave the stock room job when he could no longer perform its duties. The 4<sup>th</sup> Circuit found that if he had been promoted he would not have suffered the injury, because sales clerks did light duty work. The Court held that the Plaintiff had adequately mitigated his damages by leaving the position he could no longer physically perform because of the employer's wrongful discriminatory conduct. In Mason v. The Association for Independent Growth, 817 F.

Supp. 550 (E. D. Penn. 1993), the Court determined that the Plaintiff would not have been injured in a work-related car accident if she had been promoted, because her promotion would have involved a substantial reduction in her driving duties. Plaintiff was therefore allowed to recover back pay beyond the date she left the job. *Id.* at 554. The rationale for this was that the employer's discrimination against her in refusing her promotion resulted in physical damage that made the Plaintiff unable to perform her job. In *Jurgens v. EEOC*, 903 F. 2d 386, 389 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1990), the 5<sup>th</sup> Circuit Court of Appeals held that when an employee is discriminated against in the denial of a promotion and subsequently develops a condition which makes continuing in the same job a hardship, the employee may claim front and back pay damages stemming from the employee's voluntary resignation from the job which the employee could no longer perform due to an on-the-job injury as a result of the discriminatory failure to promote.

Thus, with only one exception, states courts which have addressed this issue have all ultimately concluded that the scope of workers' compensation immunity does not shield employers from harms related to discriminatory or retaliatory employment practices, when that conduct flows from a compensable occupational injury or disease. These state courts have recognized that the goals of their anti-discrimination statutes, like the West Virginia Human Rights Act, are much different than the goals of their workers compensation laws.