DO NOT REMOVE
FILE COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 31739

THERESA D. MESSER,

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

ARGUMENT

1. THE EXCLUSIVITY PROVISIONS OF THE WEST VIRGINIA WORKERS’ COMPENSATION ACT BAR APPELLANT’S ATTEMPT TO RECOVER DAMAGES FOR HER COMPENSABLE WORKPLACE INJURIES UNDER THE WEST VIRGINIA HUMAN RIGHTS ACT.

The issue presented for this Court’s consideration in the instant appeal is whether the exclusivity provisions of the WCA bar an employee from seeking to recover damages for workplace injuries through a cause of action under the WVHRA. The plain language of these two statutes indicates that the exclusive remedy for Appellant’s compensable workplace injuries is the workers’ compensation system. Likewise, the comprehensive statutory framework along with the discernable legislative intent clearly indicates that Appellant’s purported cause of action is barred by workers’ compensation exclusivity.

A. The Comprehensive Statutory Framework Of the West Virginia Workers’ Compensation Act And West Virginia Human Rights Act Conclusively Demonstrates That Appellant Is Barred From Asserting A Cause Of Action For Workplace Injuries Under The West Virginia Human Rights Act.

In the instant action, Appellant is attempting to recover damages for a compensable workplace injury under the WVHRA rather than the WCA, which is the exclusive remedy for such injuries. Appellant claims that her physical condition (a herniated disc at L4-L5) progressed and worsened to the point that she could no longer perform her job as of

September of 2000. Likewise, she contends that her injury was proximately caused by HAGI's alleged failure to comply with their legal obligation of accommodation and interaction under the WVHRA. Unfortunately for Appellant, the comprehensive statutory framework of the WVHRA and WCA illustrate the fundamental flaw in her claim and clearly demonstrate that the WCA is the sole remedy for her workplace injuries.

The underlying policy and purposes of the WVHRA and WCA are vastly different. The declared public policy of the WVHRA is to provide citizens of the State of West Virginia with an equal opportunity for employment. West Virginia Code § 5-11-2 (2003). Enacted in 1967, the WVHRA provides that "[i]t shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice, unless based upon a bona fide occupational qualification . . . [f]or any employer to discriminate against an individual with respect to compensation, hire, tenure, terms, conditions or privileges of employment if the individual is able to perform the services required even if such individual is blind or disabled[.]" West Virginia Code § 5-11-9(1) (2003).³ Under the WVHRA, the terms "discriminate" or "discrimination" are defined as meaning "to exclude from, or fail or refuse to extend to, a person equal opportunities because of race, religion, color, national origin, ancestry, sex, age, blindness, disability or familial status and includes to separate or segregate[.]" West Virginia Code § 5-11-3(h) (2003). There are no provisions in the WVHRA that allow an employee to pursue a cause of action to recover damages for workplace injuries.

In contrast to the underlying purpose of the WVHRA, the "workers' compensation system is supposed to benefit injured workers by providing benefits and full compensation through a basic 'no-fault' system . . . and to protect employers 'from the financial

³ Under the WVHRA, "[t]he term 'unlawful discriminatory practices' includes only those practices specified in section nine [§ 5-11-9] of this article[.]" West Virginia Code § 5-11-3(i).

consequences of civil liability to injured employees.” Miller v. City Hospital, Inc., 197 W. Va. 403, 407, 475 S.E.2d 495, 500 (1996) (citing and quoting Mayles v. Shoney’s, Inc., 185 W. Va. 88, 91, 405 S.E.2d 15, 18 (1990)). Furthermore, this broad immunity not only applies to employers, but to their officers, managers, employees and agents as well. See West Virginia Code § 23-2-6a (2003); Redden v. McClung, 192 W. Va. 102, 104, 450 S.E.2d 799, 801 (1994) (“It appears to this Court that two provisions of the Workers’ Compensation Act [West Virginia Code §§ 23-2-6 and 23-2-6a], acting in tandem, grant an employee, acting in furtherance of his employer’s business, immunity from actions for non-intentional torts inflicted on co-employees who are also acting in the course of the employer’s business.”). Thus, each Appellee is immune from liability for the workplace injury Appellant alleges that she sustained in the course of and resulting from her employment at HAGL.

Because Appellant alleges that she sustained a workplace injury in the course of and resulting from her employment at HAGL, it is apparent that she meets the test for compensability for purposes of the WCA. Barnett v. Commissioner, 153 W. Va. 796, 798, 172 S.E.2d 698, 700 (1970). In fact, Appellant has received workers’ compensation benefits for the injuries she alleges in the instant action. Therefore, her sole recourse for those injuries is the workers’ compensation system. As such, Appellees are immune from her claim for workplace injury and cannot be deprived of that statutory immunity.

B. West Virginia Code §§ 23-2-6 and 23-2-6a, Containing The Exclusivity Provisions Of The West Virginia Workers’ Compensation Act, Bars A Claim Under The West Virginia Human Rights Act To The Extent An Employee Seeks Recovery For Workplace Injuries.

In order to resolve the issue presented in this appeal, it is necessary for this Court to consult the statutory provisions of the WCA and the WVHRA in order to determine whether

the exclusivity of remedies provided under § 23-2-6 of the WCA has been preempted, repealed or superceded by the WVHRA. Based upon the plain language of these statutory provisions and the intent of the Legislature, it is clear that West Virginia Code § 23-2-6 provides the sole and exclusive remedy for Appellant's workplace injuries.

1. **The plain language of West Virginia Code § 23-2-6 provides an absolute bar to Appellant's claim for workplace injuries under the West Virginia Human Rights Act.**

The beginning of this analysis requires a review of the plain language of these statutory provisions. This Court has previously recognized that in circumstances "where the language of a statute is clear and unambiguous the plain meaning is to be accepted without resorting to the rules of interpretation." State v. Elder, 152 W. Va. 571, 575, 165 S.E.2d 108, 111 (1968). See also, syl. pt. 2, State v. Epperly, 135 W. Va. 877, 65 S.E.2d 488 (1951) ("A statutory provision which is clear and unambiguous and plainly expresses the legislative intent will not be interpreted by the courts but will be given full force and effect."). As stated by this Court in Elder, "[t]his and other courts will always endeavor to give effect to what they consider the Legislative intent; but, we do not change plain and simple language employed in framing a statute unless there is a compelling reason for so doing." Elder, 152 W. Va. at 575, 165 S.E.2d at 111 (quoting The Baird-Gatzmer Corp. v. Henry Clay Coal Mining Co., 131 W. Va. 793, 50 S.E.2d 673 (1948)).

The exclusivity provisions of the WCA are broad and provide, in pertinent part, that

[a]ny employer subject to this chapter who shall subscribe and pay into the workers' compensation fund the premiums provided by this chapter or who shall elect to make direct payments of compensation as herein provided *shall not be liable to respond in*

*damages at common law or by statute for the injury or death of any employee, however occurring,*⁴ after so subscribing or electing, and during any period in which such employer shall not be in default in the payment of such premiums or direct payments and shall have complied fully with all other provisions with this chapter.

West Virginia Code § 23-2-6 (2003) (emphasis added). This broad immunity also extends to the officers, managers, agents, representatives and employees of the employer:

The immunity from liability set out in the preceding section [§ 23-2-6] shall extend to every officer, manager, agent, representative or employee of such employer when he is acting in furtherance of the employer's business and does not inflict an injury with deliberate intention.

West Virginia Code § 23-2-6a (2003). Thus, the WCA expressly exempts employers, such as HAGI, from liability for workplace injuries. Moreover, this broad exemption plainly and unambiguously applies to both common law and statutory causes of action for workplace injuries.⁵

The plain language of § 23-2-6 is such that this Court need look no further than the text of the statute to find that Appellant's cause of action under the WVHRA is barred. Section 23-2-6, entitled "Exemption of contributing employers from liability," explicitly provides an employer "shall not be liable to respond in damages at common law or by statute for the injury or death of any employee." Appellant claims that her compensable injuries were

⁴ The phrase "however occurring," which is used in this section, has been construed as meaning "an employee who is injured in the course of, and as a result of his employment, and one who, under common law principles of a master and servant, could have maintained an action against his employer." Cox v. United States Coal & Coke Co., 80 W. Va. 295, 301, 92 S.E. 559, 561 (1917).

⁵ The only exception to the immunity conferred upon employers by the WCA is a "deliberate intention" cause of action pursuant to West Virginia Code § 23-4-2. Bell v. Vecellio & Grogan, Inc., 197 W. Va. 138, 475 S.E.2d 138 (1996). Appellant has not alleged a deliberate intention cause of action nor has Appellant claimed that her injuries are not compensable under the WCA.

caused by alleged violations of the WVHRA, which occurred during her employment with HAGI. Based upon the plain language of § 23-2-6, her claims for workplace injury are excluded because they are predicated on an alleged injury covered by the WCA. Simply put, the plain language of § 23-2-6 leaves no room for interpretation – all employee claims for injury, whether arising by common law or statute, are subject to the exclusivity provisions of the WCA.

2. **A simple comparison between the exclusivity provisions contained in the West Virginia Workers' Compensation Act and those contained in workers' compensation statutes from other jurisdictions confirms that the West Virginia Legislature did not intend to allow a recovery for workplace injuries under the West Virginia Human Rights Act.**

Having established that the exclusivity provisions set forth in § 23-2-6 of the WCA do not allow recovery for workplace injuries under the WVHRA, it is equally clear that the Legislature did not intend to permit such a cause of action. A close examination of cases from other jurisdictions dealing with workers' compensation exclusivity and civil rights claims, including cases cited by Appellant, signifies that Appellant's claims are barred by the exclusivity of the WCA. Unlike the exclusivity provisions contained in the workers' compensation statutes of other states, the broad exclusivity provisions of West Virginia Code §§ 23-2-6 and 23-2-6a are not limited to common law claims and do not contain certain enumerated exceptions. The following cases illustrate the disparities between these Code provisions and the exclusivity provisions found in comparative workers' compensation statutes.

In her brief, Appellant cites the California Supreme Court's decision in City of Moorpark v. Superior Court of Ventura County, 18 Cal. 4th 1143, 959 P.2d 752 (1998) as support for her position that the exclusivity of the WCA should be preempted by the WVHRA. The Moorpark court did not address the issue presented in this appeal; instead, that court was asked to construe § 132a of the California Labor Code, dealing with remedies for discrimination

against injured workers, in order to determine whether § 132a barred claims under California's Fair Employment and Housing Act. In considering that issue, the court found that § 132a "does not itself contain an exclusive remedy clause, and . . . the general exclusive remedy provisions of the workers' compensation law expressly do not apply to section 132a." Moorpark, 18 Cal. 4th at 1154, 959 P.2d at 759.

Appellant also cites to Cox v. Glazer Steel Corp., 606 So.2d 518 (La. 1992), in support of her contention that the exclusivity of the WCA should not bar a WVHRA claim for workplace injuries. In Cox, the Louisiana Supreme Court considered the issue of whether an employee who settled a claim for industrial injury could sue the employer for handicap discrimination. Cox, 606 So.2d at 519. Unlike Appellant's claim that HAGI *caused* her workplace injury in violation of the WVHRA, the plaintiff in Cox alleged that his employer failed to rehire him because of his handicap in violation of Louisiana's civil rights act. Id. at 520. In analyzing that issue, the court examined the exclusivity provision of the Louisiana's workers' compensation statute and found that "[s]ince LSA-R.S. 23:1032(B) provides that worker's compensation shall not affect the liability of the employer under any other statute, the worker's compensation remedy does not bar other statutory causes of action." Id.

Thus, not only is the nature of the discrimination claim at issue in Cox entirely different from the claim alleged by Appellant in the instant action, but the language of the Louisiana workers' compensation statute is markedly different from West Virginia Code § 23-2-6. In addition, the Cox decision also demonstrates the type of language that the West Virginia Legislature could have used if it had intended to preempt or except other statutory causes of action from the coverage of workers' compensation exclusivity provided by § 23-2-6.

The Maine Supreme Judicial Court's decision in King v. Bangor Federal Credit Union, 568 A.2d 507 (Me. 1989), is also cited by Appellant in support of her contention that the WVHRA should preempt § 23-2-6 exclusivity. However, a much more recent decision issued by the Maine Supreme Judicial Court more accurately addresses the issue presented to this Court. In Gordan v. Cummings, 756 A.2d 942 (Me. 2000), the court considered whether certain claims alleged by the plaintiff were barred by the exclusivity provisions of Maine's Workers' Compensation Act. The Gordan court concluded that claims brought under the Maine Human Rights Act ("MHRA") were not barred by workers' compensation exclusivity. Gordan, 756 A.2d at 945 n.3. This result stemmed from the plain language of Maine's workers' compensation statute. As the Court cogently stated, the workers' compensation exclusivity of the Maine statute "only bars common law actions and certain enumerated statutory claims involving personal injuries and the MHRA is not one of those specifically cited statutes." Id. (citing 39-A.M.R.S.A. § 104 (Supp. 1999)).

In conclusion, the exclusivity provisions of the California, Louisiana and Maine workers' compensation statutes demonstrate the possible statutory language that the West Virginia Legislature might have chosen when enacting or considering amendments to the WCA. However, unlike the legislatures in those states, the West Virginia Legislature has chosen to exclude recovery for all common law *and* statutory causes of action under the plain language of West Virginia Code § 23-2-6. Although West Virginia Code § 23-2-6 has been amended at least five times since its enactment in 1913, the Legislature has chosen not to diminish the immunity provided employers of this State by legislative amendment. Accordingly, the plain language of the WCA demonstrates the intent of the Legislature and this Court must follow that language by

refusing to permit Appellant to proceed under the WVHRA for injuries which are otherwise compensable under the WCA.

3. **The West Virginia Human Rights Act does not preempt the exclusivity provisions contained in West Virginia Code § 23-2-6.**

The clear and unambiguous text of the WVHRA does not demonstrate any intent by the Legislature to preempt, repeal or supersede the exclusivity provisions of the WCA.

Indeed, the only provision of the WVHRA dealing with exclusivity provides that

nothing contained in this article shall be deemed to repeal or supersede any of the provisions of any existing or hereafter adopted municipal ordinance, municipal charter or of any law of the this state relating to discrimination because of . . . disability . . .

West Virginia Code § 5-11-13(a).

Nowhere in the plain language of the WVHRA is there manifested an intent to preempt or repeal any other provision of the West Virginia Code, including the WCA. To the contrary, West Virginia Code § 5-11-13(a) specifically indicates nothing in the WVHRA is to be construed to repeal or supersede other laws of the state relating to disability discrimination. The importance of this provision, along with the absence of any other preemptive or repealing language, is illuminated when compared to similar anti-discrimination statutes from other states.

By way of example, Washington's civil rights law, as codified at § 49.60.020 of the Revised Code of Washington, provides that "[n]othing contained in this chapter shall be deemed to repeal any of the provisions of any other law of this state relating to discrimination . . . other than a law which purports to require or permit doing any act which is an unfair practice under this chapter." In construing this provision, the Washington Supreme Court found that the "Legislature expressly foreclosed the possibility that discriminatory actions might be insulated

from remedy by virtue of earlier enacted laws.” Reese v. Sears, Roebuck & Co., 107 Wn.2d 563, 570, 731 P.2d 497, 501 (1987), overruled on other grounds, Phillips v. Seattle, 11 Wn.2d 903, 766 P.2d 1099 (1989).

Similarly, California Government Code § 12993(a) provides that “[n]othing contained in this part shall be deemed to repeal any of the provisions . . . of any other law of this state . . . unless those provisions provide less protection to the enumerated classes of persons covered under this part.” Prior to the 1993 amendment which added the repeal provisions of § 12993(a), § 132a of the California Labor Code provided workers’ compensation exclusivity for injuries arising out of employment discrimination and workers were precluded from recovering damages for physical and mental injury under Fair Employment Housing Act (“FEHA”). See Buckley v. Gallo Sales Co., 949 F. Supp. 737, 744 (N.D.Cal. 1996).

Courts addressing the issue after the 1993 amendment went into effect have held that § 12993(a) repealed the exclusivity provisions of § 132a to the extent § 132a precludes recovery under the FEHA. See Ash v. Pacific Bell, 1995 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 21885, at *6 (S.D.Cal. 1995) (the 1993 amendment appeared to “repeal Labor Code Section 132(a) to the extent that courts could construe that section to preclude an action under FEHA.”); Gallo v. Board of Regents of the University of California, 916 F. Supp. 1005, 1009 (S.D.Cal. 1995) (“The Court holds that the 1993 amendment to the FEHA reverses the prior doctrine that disability discrimination claims stemming from a work-related injury fall exclusively within the worker’s compensation scheme.”); Buckley, 949 F. Supp. at 744 (“After the amendment, the FEHA can be read to repeal that exclusive aspect of the workers’ compensation act and the jurisprudence that had confirmed it.”).

As the foregoing cases and statutes from other jurisdictions clearly indicate, interpretation of workers' compensation exclusivity turns on the statutory language contained in the Act. When analyzing legislative intent and considering the interrelation among various provisions of the West Virginia Code, this Court has indicated that it will be guided by the following principles:

A statute should be so read and applied as to make it accord with the spirit, purposes and objects of the general system of law of which it is intended to form a part; it being presumed that the legislators who drafted and passed it were familiar with all existing law, applicable to the subject matter, whether constitutional, statutory or common, and intended the statute to harmonize completely with the same and aid in the effectuation of the general purpose and design thereof, if its terms are consistent therewith.

Henderson v. Meredith Lumber Co., 190 W. Va. 292, 297, 438 S.E.2d 324, 329 (1993) (quoting State v. Snyder, 64 W. Va. 659, 63 S.E. 385 (1908)).

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